IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF NEVADA

GAVIN COX and MINH-HAHN COX,) Flootropically Filed
Husband and Wife,	Supreme Electronically Filed Jun 11 2019 04:48 p.m.
Appellants,	Elizabeth A. Brown) District Coller of Supreme Court) A-14-705164-C
VS.	
MCM CD AND HOTEL LLC DAVID)
MGM GRAND HOTEL, LLC; DAVID)
COPPERFIELD aka DAVID S. KOTKIN;)
BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND)
REFERRAL, INC.; DAVID COPPERFIELD'S	
DISAPPEARING, INC.; TEAM)
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT, INC.; and)
BEACHERS LV, LLC	,)
Respondents.))

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

MORELLI LAW FIRM, PLLC BENEDICT P. MORELLI, ESQ.

777 Third Avenue, 31st Floor New York, New York 10017 212.751.9800 – Telephone

BRIAN K. HARRIS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 7737

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Gavin Cox and Minh-Hahn Cox (collectively "Appellants") filed a Complaint against MGM Grand Hotel, LLC ("MGM Grand"), David Copperfield, aka David S. Kotkin ("Copperfield"), Backstage Employment and Referral, Inc. ("Backstage"), David Copperfield's Disappearing, Inc. ("DCDI"), and Team Construction Management ("Team Construction") (collectively "Respondents"), for personal injuries arising from a fall that Mr. Cox suffered on November 12, 2013, when he was an audience member selected to participate in the "13 Illusion" during the David Copperfield Show at the MGM Grand Hotel. See Joint Appendix ("JA") JA 000001-011. This is an Appeal from a defense jury verdict in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Judge Mark R. Denton (the "District Court"), and various trial and post-trial orders and rulings. A bifurcated jury trial in this matter began on April 3, 2018. On May 29, 2018, after a sevenweek trial on liability only, the jury found that Respondents MGM Grand, Copperfield, and DCDI were all negligent, but inexplicably attributed comparative fault entirely to Mr. Cox without any record evidence as to his fault. JA 005920-5923. Appellants sought relief from the jury verdict and filed a Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement on July 11, 2018. JA 006260-6294.

Appellants subsequently made a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, alternatively, for a New Trial. *JA 005925-6259*. A hearing was held on

August 23, 2018. JA 006497-6552. By Decision dated September 17, 2018 and Order dated October 18, 2018, the District Court denied Appellants' motion. JA 006553-6559; JA 006560-6561. A Notice of Entry of said Order was filed on October 23, 2018. JA 006562-6566. On May 6, 2019, the District Court entered an Order granting Appellants' Motion for Certification of Judgment and made an express determination certifying that, pursuant to NRCP 54(b), the October 18, 2018 Order is a final judgment from which an appeal may be taken. JA 006624-6626. Appellants filed an Amended Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement. JA 006567-6585. On March 28, 2019, the Supreme Court issued an Order Granting Motion which treated the parties' stipulation extending the time for filing briefs as a joint motion for extension of time and granted said motion. JA 006597-6598. Appellants had until June 11, 2019 to timely file and serve the Opening Brief and Appendix, making the within Appeal timely.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and (2) (allowing for appeal from a final judgment and from an order denying a motion for a new trial), this Court has appellate jurisdiction over this case. This Court should retain jurisdiction because pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12), Appellants seek interpretation and clarification of matters raising as principal issues questions of statewide public importance. The public policy concerns at issue are unfairness in the proceedings and violations of

NRS 50.085(3) and of basic, well-established evidentiary principles concerning impeachment which could affect every court proceeding in this State.

Should the Supreme Court decide not to retain jurisdiction over this case, the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), "[a]ppeals from postjudgment orders in civil cases" are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. Also, pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(5), "[a]ppeals from a judgment . . . of \$250,000 or less in a tort case" are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. This Appeal falls under both subsections.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING SUB ROSA SURVEILLANCE VIDEOS OF MR. COX DURING THE LIABILITY PORTION OF TRIAL AND WHETHER THE RESULTING PREJUDICE DENIED APPELLANTS A FAIR TRIAL.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE ISSUE OF COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY WHERE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SUCH A CHARGE.

WHETHER THE JURY'S MANIFEST DISREGARD OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS AND APPLICABLE LAW RESULTED IN AN INCONSISTENT VERDICT THAT WARRANTS A NEW TRIAL.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO INFORM THE JURY OF THE TRUE REASONS FOR ITS DECISION TO CANCEL THE JURY VIEW WAS INCONSISTENT WITH SUBSTANTIAL JUSTICE AND PREVENTED APPELLANTS FROM HAVING A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On the night of November 12, 2013, Gavin Cox was selected from the audience during a David Copperfield Show at the MGM Grand in Las Vegas to participate in the "13 Illusion." While participating in the "runaround" portion of the illusion, Mr. Cox fell and sustained serious and permanent personal injuries.

Specifically, while visiting Las Vegas, Gavin Cox and his wife decided to attend a David Copperfield show. The final act of the show was the "13 Illusion." During the 13 Illusion, up to 13 audience members are selected at random when large balls are thrown into the audience while music plays. When the music stops, the 13 people holding balls are the participants in the illusion. Gavin was led to the stage by Backstage employees and seated with the other participants in a large prop which had two rows of chairs. Gavin was given no information as to what he could expect. No instructions were given. No waivers were signed. Gavin was given no indication at all as to what was about to occur. A large curtain was draped around the prop to cover it from audience view. Suddenly, and without warning, stagehands appeared through a trap door in the prop and hurried the participants off-stage through the trap door. Gavin was the last participant and was immediately instructed to run by Backstage and MGM Grand employees. Gavin was given the impression that if he did not run as fast as he could, the 13 Illusion would fail. Gavin was hurried through a dark corridor,

through multiple hallways, through a set of doors, and was suddenly outside of the MGM Grand building where it was dark. Gavin was then told to run around two corners by Backstage and MGM Grand employees. While turning the second corner, there was an unexpected ramp, on which Gavin slipped and fell. The area around the ramp was covered in construction dust. Gavin was never warned about the sudden incline of the ramp, which the evidence at trial showed violated the Nevada Building Code at the time of the accident. *See JA 003031-3059*.

The David Copperfield Show is performed at the MGM Grand. All of the relevant events leading to Gavin's injuries took place on the premises owned by MGM Grand. Copperfield owns and produces his show. He operates under the business name David Copperfield Disappearing, Inc. Copperfield is the owner, President, and sole employee of DCDI. Copperfield admits he is responsible for the production of the 13 Illusion and that he personally designed and determined the path the participants followed to complete the illusion. However, Copperfield requires assistance to be able to complete his performances. As such, he has a contract with Backstage Employment who exists solely to provide personnel to assist Copperfield with his performances. The Backstage employees are provided to meet Copperfield's unique needs for each illusion and are expected to follow Copperfield's directions. Additionally, there are also MGM Grand employees acting as stage hands during the "runaround" portion of the 13 Illusion. The

MGM Grand employees were expected to follow all of Copperfield's directions. See JA 000920-0972, 000988-0999, 001136, 001155-1156; JA 001185, 001211-1212, 001239-1240, 001264-1265, 001277; JA 001576.

A bifurcated liability trial began on April 3, 2018. On May 4, 2018, after Appellants rested their case-in-chief, counsel for Backstage Employment, in the presence of the jury and without any prior notice, made an oral motion for a jury view of the relevant portions of the MGM Grand property pursuant to NRS 16.100. JA 003853-3854. This request, made in the presence of the jury, was patently improper and done for the express purpose of placing Appellants in the untenable position of opposing the request at the risk of intimating to the jury that they had something to hide. Moreover, as the District Court noted, Appellants were not given any notice or opportunity to brief the oral motion. Nevertheless, argument regarding the proposed jury view was held that same day outside the presence of the jury during which Appellants stated their strenuous objections due to, among other reasons, the fact that the entire outdoor portion of the "runaround" route had been significantly structurally altered and, as such, the accident conditions could not be accurately recreated. See JA 003936-3938, 003943-3946. Over Appellants' numerous objections, the District Court granted the request for a jury view and informed the jury of the same. See JA 003964-*3967, 003971.*

Appellants filed an Emergency Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the Supreme Court. *JA 004004-4067*. Appellants argued the District Court abused its discretion in permitting the jury view in light of the substantially different condition of the subject area and because permitting it would irreparably taint the jury and substantially prejudice Appellants. On May 7, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus solely on procedural grounds. *JA 004068-4070*. However, the court issued a substantive dissent. Justice Silver noted "the irreparable harm petitioners may face with regard to this unfair procedure after resting their case." Justice Silver concluded she would "prohibit[] the jurors from viewing the scene at this late juncture of trial as being untimely and unfair." *JA 004068-4070*.

On May 8, 2018, the District Court reversed its decision and denied the request for a jury view. Prior to the decision, Appellants' counsel played a video for the court that was recorded just the night before. *JA 004077-4079*. The video showed Respondents, in preparation for the jury view, had literally hired a crew of power washers to clean up the outdoor portion of the "runaround" in an attempt to falsely convince the jury the route was clean and safe on the night of Mr. Cox's accident. The video also showed Respondents' counsel was actually present while the power washing and cleaning was taking place and thus knew the accident scene was being further altered. *JA 004077-4079*. Despite providing

video proof of this unethical conduct, the court stopped Appellants from playing the video any further and would not even acknowledge it. *JA 004077-4079*.

Outside the presence of the jury, the District Court, in acknowledgment of, and in agreement with Justice Silver's dissent, stated the reasoning for its reconsideration included: (1) the fact that the Respondents' request for the jury view came only after Appellants had rested their case; (2) that substantial changes had been made to the premises; and (3) that the substantial changes would likely ring a bell that could not be unrung in the minds of the jurors. JA 004079-4080. The District Court even quoted directly from Justice Silver's dissent and noted that the points Justice Silver made in her dissent "have significance." JA 004080-4081, 004083, 004096-4097. Ultimately, the District Court, on reconsideration, denied Respondents' motion for a jury view. JA 004095, 004102. Yet, when the District Court informed the jury it was cancelling the previously confirmed jury view, it did not give the jury <u>any</u> of the above-mentioned reasons for changing its mind. Instead, the District Court simply stated that it "has determined that this is not conducive — this case is not conducive to" a jury view. JA 004118.

The next error was made when, although the issues of liability and damages were bifurcated, the District Court, over Appellants' objection, permitted Respondents to introduce sub rosa surveillance footage of Mr. Cox during their liability case. *JA 004708-4715, 004718-4719; JA 005033-5035*.

Over Appellants' strenuous objections, counsel for Backstage Employment argued that the sub rosa surveillance videos were admissible to "impeach[] [Mr. Cox's] conduct" in the courtroom. JA 004709-4715; JA 004971-4973. Specifically, Backstage proffered the sub rosa surveillance videos solely to "rebut" the "fact that, on the way to the witness stand, [Mr. Cox] held onto the marshal's arm" and that "on the way back from the witness stand, he held onto [Appellants' counsel] Mr. Morelli." JA 004710-4711. Counsel for MGM Grand then piled on and argued that the videos were admissible because "the credibility or believability of a witness should be determined by his manner upon the stand" and "the law anticipates the ability to impeach credibility through mannerisms." JA 005062-5065. Yet, at no time during their cross-examination of Mr. Cox did any of the Respondents ever question Mr. Cox about the need to walk with assistance in or out of the courtroom and his actions clearly did not take place while he was on the stand. In deeming the surveillance videos admissible, the District Court illogically stated: "I consider that whatever has happened in open court is fair game. And, accordingly, I'll permit the video." JA 005067.

Immediately after this incorrect ruling, Appellants' counsel requested permission to call a medical expert to at least adequately explain and rebut the sub rosa surveillance videos, but the request was denied. *JA 005067-5068*.

Specifically, the District Court, in an apparent rush to finish the case, said: "I'm

not talking about doctors coming in or that kind of thing. We're not going to get into that. We've got to conclude this – the evidence in this case. All right?" *JA* 005068. Thereafter, Respondents were permitted to admit into evidence and show the jury six (6) surveillance video clips of Mr. Cox taken outside the courtroom at various times before and during trial which simply showed him slowly walking outside while not holding onto anyone for assistance. *JA* 005068-5070. Respondents contrasted these surveillance clips with the courtroom footage of Mr. Cox approaching and leaving the witness stand with minor assistance in an apparent attempt to show the jury that he was faking his injuries — which were not even at issue during the liability phase of trial. *JA* 005068-5070.

At the close of Respondents' case, Appellants moved pursuant to Rule 50(a)(1) for judgment as a matter of law to dismiss the affirmative defense of comparative negligence and asked that the jury not be read the comparative negligence charge. *JA* 005147-5154. The basis of Appellants' motion was that Respondents never proffered any evidence to establish that Mr. Cox was in any way comparatively negligent. The District Court cursorily denied the motion, saying only: "Lots of things for the jury to consider, and comparative negligence is one of them. So the motion is denied." *JA* 005154. ¹

¹ Regarding comparative negligence, the District Court gave the following instruction: Defendants claim that plaintiff's own negligence contributed to his accident. To succeed on this claim, the <u>defendants must prove both the following</u>:

Compounding this error, during closing arguments, counsel for Respondents were allowed to make several completely improper statements. By far the most egregious was Mr. Popovich, counsel for MGM Grand, who said:

The Friday before the long break, you all saw videotape of Mr. Cox. You saw him in this court -- again, with these cameras -- being helped up to the witness stand. You saw him being helped back down from the witness stand based on my experience with jurors, I'm sure you have observed him for many weeks in this courtroom. When, during testimony, he needed to go outside for any reason, he was assisted by his son. When he stood for you to go in and out, he would often stand using some hard physical assistance, steadied by a hand, something like that. Now, Mr. Cox, it is true, never gave verbal testimony that "I can walk without assistance." And he never gave verbal testimony that he couldn't stand without some physical assistance like leaning on anything. So the subsequent video you were shown of Mr. Cox walking in 2016 for exercise, 2017 for exercise, after or before court days here, during this trial when you could observe him here, and then you see him when you're -- when you, this jury, is not around, well, that is evidence that impacts Mr. Cox's credibility. You can compare what you saw on the surveillance videotape to what you observed in this courtroom, and you can decide whether that looks consistent or whether it looks very inconsistent. Now, the part that plays into this jury instruction is the failure to produce stronger evidence. After those videos were played, plaintiffs were in their rebuttal case. And they had the opportunity to put Mr. Cox up here and tell us why

^{1.} That plaintiff was negligent; 2. That plaintiff's negligence was a proximate cause of Gavin Cox's accident. The plaintiffs may not recover damages if Mr. Cox's comparative negligence is greater than the negligence of the combined negligence of all the defendants in this case. However, if Gavin Cox was negligent, the plaintiffs may still recover a reduced sum so long as his comparative negligence was not greater than the negligence of the combined negligence of all the defendants. If you determine that the plaintiffs are entitled to recover, you shall return a special verdict indicating the percentage of negligence attributable to each party. JA 005257-5258; see also Jury Instruction No. 22.

he hasn't been deceiving this jury from day one, why he hasn't been manipulating this jury from day one right here, witness stand. Let's get some more truth. Snicker all they want; they're caught and they know it. Okay? So they have the ability to produce stronger evidence. They just let it slide and hoped Mr. Morelli could smooth it out. That evidence didn't come in related to injuries because that is a Phase 2 issue. That evidence came in to let you assess Mr. Cox's credibility. But does he have any left? I don't think so. He's been manipulating this jury from day one with every move he made. You shouldn't believe a word that comes out of his mouth because the only reason to do that is the green box at the end. He just wants a payoff.

MR. MORELLI: Jesus

MR. POPVICH: Yeah, "Oh, Jesus." That's right, Mr. Morelli. You should be praying because this jury saw what they saw.

JA 005466-5469 (emphasis added). Appellants' counsel objected to the highly improper statements in Mr. Popovich's closing and argued that said statements constituted "incredibly prejudicial" misconduct in violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 3.4(e) and pursuant to the Lioce v. Cohen, 124 Nev. 1 (2008) and Centeno-Alvares v. Coe, Case No. A510230, 2008 WL 8177830 (Nev. Dist. Ct. 2008) decisions. JA 005488-5492, 005555-5561. Appellants' counsel requested that the District Court admonish Mr. Popovich to the jury pursuant to Lioce. JA 005488-5492, 005557-5561, 005564-5567.²

² Specifically, Appellants requested the following admonishment, based on language from <u>Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.</u>, 319 P.3d 606 (2014): "Members of the jury, during Mr. Popovich's closing arguments, he stated that Gavin Cox is only here because of, quote, the green box at the end, and he, quote, just wants a payoff, end quote. Those comments were impermissible, and I admonish you to disregard those comments and dismiss them from your mind. You may not use

The District Court denied the request to admonish the jury and Mr. Popovich pursuant to <u>Lioce</u> and <u>Gunderson</u>, saying: "I'm not inclined to use the term 'misconduct' or 'impropriety' or anything like that." *JA 005560*, *005568-5571*. The District Court stated: "So I'm not going to get into misconduct or violations of rules of professional responsibility or anything like that. I'm going to just allude to the fact that there was an objection, that I've sustained it, and telling them to disregard the comment. Okay?" *JA 005571*. The District Court gave the following instruction:

Members of the jury, during Mr. Popovich's closing arguments, he stated that Gavin Cox is here because of the "green box at the end," and he "just wants a payoff." Those comments were objected to and the Court has sustained the objection, and I admonish you to disregard those comments and to dismiss them from your mind. You may not use those comments in coming to your decision in this case and must decide this case solely based on the evidence and the law.

JA 005577-5578.

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