IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GAVIN COX and MINH-HAHN COX,	Supreme Court 76422
Husband and Wife,	District Court Case No Electronically Filed
Appellants,	Aug 12 2019 09:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
V	Clerk of Supreme Court
MGM GRAND HOTEL, LLC; DAVID	
COPPERFIELD aka DAVID S. KOTKIN;	
BACKSTAGE EMPLOYMENT AND	
REFERRAL, INC. DAVID)
COPPERFIELD'S DISAPPEARING,	
INC.; TEAM CONSTRUCTION	
MANAGEMENT, INC.; and BEACHERS	
LV, LLC,	
Respondents.	
· ·	

RESPONDENT MGM GRAND HOTEL, LLC'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Jerry Popovich
Gil Glancz
Selman Breitman LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Telephone: 702.228.7717
Attorneys for Respondent

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

Pursuant to NRS 41.141(2)(a), an instruction on comparative negligence is required if such a defense is asserted. *Verner v. Nevada Power Co.*, 101 Nev. 551, 554-56, 706 P.2d 147, 150-51 (1985). The statute applies to any situation where a plaintiff's contributory negligence is properly asserted as a bona fide issue in the case. See *Buck by Buck v. Greyhound Lines, Inc.*, 105 Nev. 756, 764, 783 P.2d 437, 442 (1989). Failure to give such instruction when a bona fide defense is asserted is plain error. *Verner*, 101 Nev. 551, 554-56, 706 P.2d 147, 150-51.

All Defendants raised a bona fide comparative negligence defense, and NRS 41.141, therefore, required that the instruction be given. Even if the instruction was error, it was harmless error as it relates to Plaintiffs' claims against MGM.

(1) Abuse of Discretion

Plaintiffs cite various non-binding cases from other jurisdictions. However, the cases relied on by Plaintiffs reveal Plaintiffs 'confusion as to what is required to instruct the jury regarding comparative negligence in Nevada, versus what is actually required to find comparative negligence in other jurisdictions. Compare Townsend. v. Legere, 242 N.H. 593, 594 (1997); Jaworski v. Great Scott Supermarkets, Inc., 493 Mich. 689, 697, 272 N.W.2d 518, 520 (1978); Nieves v. Riverbay Corp., 95 A.D.3d 458, 459 (N.Y. App. Div. 2012); Taylor v. Tolbert Enterprises, Inc., 439 So.2d 991, 992 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1983), and Anderson v. L&R Smith, Inc., 265 Ga. App. 469, 470 (2004) (all of which deal with the issue of an improper instruction), with Bergeron v, K-Mart Corp., 540 So.2d 406, 408 (La. Ct. App 1989); Nallan v. Helmsley-Spear, Inc., 50 N.Y.2d 507, 517 (1980); Laberra v. Boyd Gaming Corp, 132 So.3d 1018, 1023 (La. 2014); and Marshall v. A&P Food Co. of Tallulah, 587 So. 2d 103, 110 (La. Ct. App. 1991) (all of which deal with the jury's actual finding of comparative negligence, or no such finding, as opposed to the instruction). Plaintiffs also cite to several cases that involve purely passive plaintiffs, which are inapplicable in the instant matter. See e.g. Rose v. Annabi, 934 A.2d 734 (2007); Harb v. City of Bakersfield, 233 Cal. App. 4th 606 (2015); and *Tobia v. Cooper Hosp. Univ. Med. Ctr.*, 136 N.J. 335 (1994).

Nevada law is clear: an instruction on comparative negligence is required if a viable defense of comparative fault is asserted. See Verner, 101 Nev. 551, 554-56, 706 P.2d 147, 150-51. Further, this Court has held, as a matter of law that contributory and comparative negligence attach in instances where a plaintiff proceeds in darkness in an unfamiliar area. Tryba v. Fray, 75 Nev. 288, 288-91, 339 P.2d 753, 754 (1959) (discussing the "darkness rule"). Comparative fault has been asserted as a viable defense for the jury's consideration in a myriad of cases, such as when a pedestrian is struck while outside a crosswalk (Anderson v. Baltrusaitis, 113 Nev. 963, 944 P.2d 797 (1997)); where the plaintiff asserted a theory of res ipsa loquitur (Woosley v. State Farm Ins. Co., 117 Nev. 182, 188, 18 P.3d 317, 321 (2001)); or even where a plaintiff simply did not look before stepping backward (Joynt v. California Hotel & Casino, 108 Nev. 539, 835 P.2d 799 (1992)).

Plaintiffs rely on only three Nevada cases in less than one page of their nine-page argument on this issue, including an unpublished trial court order that is wholly inapplicable given the facts of this case. Plaintiffs cite an unpublished District Court Order (*Hernandez-Sanchez v. Gibrick*, 2013 WL 6912967 (Nev. Dist. Ct.)) that has no precedential value. Nevada Supreme Court Rule 123 states in pertinent part that an "unpublished opinion or order of the Nevada Supreme Court shall not be regarded as

precedent and shall not be cited as legal authority..." SCR 123. Furthermore, Rule 36 of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure was recently amended so that unpublished opinions of the Nevada Court of Appeals can no longer be cited in court briefs. If unpublished opinions from these appellate courts are not to be used as precedent, then a District Court Order certainly should not.

This Court has generally found that comparative negligence is not a bona fide defense in instances where the conduct of the plaintiff is entirely passive, like being rear-ended while stopped. In *Buck by Buck v. Greyhound Lines, Inc.*, for example, the Supreme Court found comparative negligence was not a bona fide defense to two toddler plaintiffs who were injured when the car they were riding in was struck by a Greyhound bus. *105 Nev. 756, 764 (1989);* See also *ETT, Inc. v. Delegado*, 126 Nev. 709, 367 P.3d 767 (2010) (finding comparative negligence was not a bona fide defense against a plaintiff who was struck while in a parked car); *Piroozi v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 100, 363 P.3d 1168, 1171 (2015) (finding comparative negligence was not a bona fide defense against an infant who suffered injuries in a medical malpractice action).

The instant matter is easily distinguished from the cases cited both in Nevada and out-of-state, as those plaintiffs were entirely passive and did nothing that contributed to the respective accidents. Here, Mr. Cox was

engaged in a voluntary activity, perceiving what he claims were dark and rushed circumstances, in control of his own body and movements, after agreeing that he could run, when the incident occurred. *JA.v.13.p.003035-003036*, *JA.v.13.p.003043*, *JA.v.13.p.003048*, *JA.v.13.p.003051-003052*, *JA.v.14.p.003112*, *JA.v.13.p.003079-003080*. Mr. Cox was not a passive plaintiff as Plaintiffs suggest.

(2) MGM Raised a Bona Fide Defense of Comparative Negligence

Nevada law not only supports, but in fact mandates, a comparative fault instruction in this matter. This Court has clarified that for NRS 41.141 to be triggered, thereby requiring a comparative fault jury instruction, comparative negligence simply must be a bona fide issue. The record as a whole shows that there was ample evidence through testimony, expert testimony, video, and photographs to raise a bona fide defense of comparative negligence and in fact ultimately supported a finding by the jury of comparative negligence.

Plaintiffs, in arguing there was insufficient evidence to support the defense, selectively point out limited evidence and ignore much of the record as a whole. They rely on the false theory that all Defendants did not proffer any evidence that Mr. Cox was negligent or that he contributed to his fall. In support of this false narrative, Plaintiffs cite to the trial testimony of MGM risk manager Mark Habersack in an attempt to show

that Mr. Cox was not negligent and the comparative negligence defense should have been dismissed.

Mr. Habersack was a lay witness and not a percipient witness. *JA.v.11.p.002552-002553*, *JA.v.11.p.002565-002566*, *JA.v.11.p.002570-002575*. Mr. Habersack was not even employed at MGM at the time of the incident. *JA.v.11.p.002534*. Moreover, Mr. Habersack has never been a participant in the David Copperfield show. *JA.v.12.p.002643*. Mr. Habersack's lay witness opinion is meaningless, was based on incomplete information, and has no influence on negligence and comparative negligence.

Plaintiffs clearly ignore testimony and evidence from witnesses with knowledge of the illusion, route for participants and circumstances surrounding the accident. Whether or not Mr. Cox exercised reasonable care while participating in the Illusion and navigating his way through what he claims were dark passageways clearly raises a bona fide issue of comparative negligence requiring an instruction to the jury.

Mr. Cox was never forced to do anything he did not willingly choose to do. Instead, Mr. Cox purchased tickets to attend the David Copperfield show and while there willingly and without hesitation volunteered to participate in the Illusion even after he was asked about his ability to run. *JA.v. 13.p. 003035-003036, JA.v. 13.p. 003074, JA.v. 14.p. 003131-003133*.

Throughout the illusion, Mr. Cox was in full control of his own will, body and movements. Although Mr. Cox could have stopped participating in the illusion at any time, he voluntarily elected to continue to participate despite the fact that he claims that the activity was performed in dark and rushed circumstances. *JA.v.6.p.001223-001224*. Mr. Cox made an affirmative choice to not only participate, but to continue to participate, even though he allegedly believed that the activity was being done in an unsafe manner. Mr. Cox is not a passive plaintiff as the Plaintiffs argue.

There was ample evidence that the route where the participants were directed was safe and not dangerous. *JA.v.5.p.001133-001134*. There was evidence that defendants took great care to ensure that participants were safe throughout the illusion. Chris Kenner, the owner of Backstage testified that certain protocols were followed to ensure safety of the participants during the illusion. *JA.v.5.p.001142-001147*, *JA.v.5.p.001161-001164*, *JA.v.6.p.001196*, *JA.v.6.001220*. He further testified that Mr. Copperfield walks the same route just minutes prior to the run around during another illusion to ensure safety. *JA.v.5.p.001135-001136*. Based on this evidence a jury could infer that Mr. Cox may not have been acting reasonably while participating and contributed to his own fall, when he believed it was all pandemonium. *JA.v.13.p.003043*, *JA.v.14.p.003154*.

MGM presented expert testimony of John Baker, Ph.D. JA.v. 18.p. 004268-JA.v. 19.p. 004398), (JA.v. 18.p. 004120-004264, who specializes in accident reconstruction, injury reconstruction and human factors. JA.v. 18.p. 004121. Dr. Baker testified that the point of impact ("POI"), meaning Mr. Cox's impact with the ground, was more than twenty feet from where Mr. Cox had testified he slipped and fell. JA.v. 18.p. 004169-004173, JA.v. 19.p. 004385-004386. Dr. Baker further testified that the site where Mr. Cox tripped was on a straight and JA.v.18.p.004184-004187, essentially level walkway. concrete JA.v.18.p.004228. Dr. Baker also testified that the POI was fifteen feet eight inches from the top of the concrete ramp, and that the ramp in no way had anything to do with Mr. Cox falling. JA.v.19.p.004318-004321, JA.v.19.p.004340-004341.

Dr. Baker arrived at the conclusion that Mr. Cox fell because he tripped as a result of not lifting his foot properly and interrupting his stride, on smooth level concrete. *JA.v.18.p.004203-004206*, *JA.v.18.p.004212*, *JA.v.18.p.004214*, *JA.v.19.p.004361-004363*. Dr. Baker testified that photos of Mr. Cox's shoes and clothes support these opinions. *JA.v.18.p.004201-004215*, *JA.v.18.p.004228*, *JA.v.19.p.4338-004339*.

Team Construction Management, Inc. ("TEAM") also presented expert testimony of its own by Dr. Nicholas Yang (JA.v.20.p.004624-

JA.v.21.p.004969) a senior biomechanical engineer who determined the biomechanics of the fall. JA.v.20.p.004625. Dr. Yang arrived at the same conclusion of Dr. Baker that a toe trip caused Mr. Cox to fall. Id. Dr. Yang also testified that the photos of Mr. Cox's shoes supported his conclusion (Id.) and that the top of the ramp was about nine feet behind where his feet were located when he tripped. JA.v.20.p.004664. Dr. Yang further testified that Mr. Cox fell approximately twenty feet from the corner where he testified that he fell. JA.v.20.p.004668.

The evidence supporting Mr. Cox's comparative negligence was not a generalization or speculative, but evidence from two defense experts that performed separate and different investigations using different methods. Both defense experts reached the same conclusion that Mr. Cox fell because he tripped as a result of not lifting his foot properly to avoid a toe strike that interrupted his stride causing him to fall. There was no testimony that there was anything in his path that caused him to trip. The testimony of these experts clearly raises the issue of comparative negligence, and supported a comparative fault instruction. This is especially true given that Plaintiffs did not offer any expert testimony to refute the defense that Mr. Cox's actions were the cause of his trip and fall.

In addition to the opinions of the experts, there was direct and circumstantial evidence supporting the defense of comparative negligence.

There was testimony that there was sufficient lighting where Mr. Cox fell and the "runaround" route was organized with stagehands posted throughout and leading the way. JA.v.6.p.001239-001240. There was testimony that participants were not forced to run as fast as they could and instead that they were encouraged to keep a pace of a brisk walk. JA.v.9.p.002089-002090, JA.v.6.p.001245-001246, JA.v.11.p.002392-Mr. Cox at any time could have gone slower. There was testimony that the hallways used in the run around are too short to run full speed as Mr. Cox claimed. JA.v.9.p.002089. The video of the incident (JA.v.5.p.001119-001120, JA.v.19. p.004475-004477) shows that there were participants behind him and that no one was forcing Mr. Cox. Pomai Weall, an employee for Backstage, follows behind the last participant during the run around testified that she never tells participants to run. JA.v. 11.p. 002392-002393. Ms. Weall further testified that by the time she was in view of the area where Mr. Cox had fallen he had already continued with participating in the illusion so she never saw him. JA.v.11.p.002395-002396. If Ms. Weall was directing the participants to run at full speed she would have seen Mr. Cox at some point during his fall or immediately thereafter. If the jury believed Mr. Cox was actually running at full speed as he claimed (JA.v. 13.p. 003042-003043, JA.v. 13.p. 003059), it would be easy for them to infer that he himself created a danger and caused himself to fall.

Moreover, the bona fide defense of comparative negligence was also supported by Mr. Cox's own testimony. Mr. Cox testified that he was running, it was dark, he did not know where he was going and it was "total pandemonium." JA.v. 13.p. 003043. He testified multiple times that he was running as fast as he could. JA.v.13.p.003048, JA.v.13.p.003051-003052, JA.v.14.p.003112. Mr. Cox testified that he did not even look at the ground. JA.v. 13.p. 003079-003080. This raised the questions to Mr. Cox that if this was the situation, then why did he not take care, slow down and look at the ground, or simply stop his participation in the illusion. If Mr. Cox was involved in something he thought was total pandemonium, he should have exercised ordinary care for his own safety especially given that he could have stopped participating in the illusion at any time. JA.v.6.p.001223-001224. A jury could certainly consider the evidence to establish comparative fault on Mr. Cox's part. The failure to do so is negligent. The jury specifically and pointedly found Mr. Cox to be 100% negligent, and that his negligence proximately caused his accident (JA.v.25.p.005920-005923). The jury believed there was enough evidence. Comparative negligence was a valid defense with substantial evidence and expert testimony in support.

(3) The District Court's Findings and Decision Regarding Comparative Negligence

After careful consideration of the briefs, arguments of counsel and analysis of law On September 17, 2018, the District Court issued its decision by on Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or Alternatively, for a New Trial. *JA.v.28.p.006553-006559*. Specifically, with respect to the comparative negligence instruction, the District Court issued the following decision:

"The Court agrees with Defendants that the subject matter of comparative negligence was properly framed and tried; that the Jury was properly instructed on the subject; that the evidence supports the Jury's determination that Plaintiff Gavin Cox, an active, not passive, participant in the illusion was negligent..." JA.v.28.p.006553-006554.

The issue of comparative negligence was one for the jury to determine, and it did so after receiving weeks of testimony, watching the surveillance video of the incident, being given a correct statement of the law and weighing the evidence before it. The court did not err in submitting comparative negligence to the jury.

(4) Even if the jury was Improperly Instructed Regarding Comparative Negligence, the Error was Harmless as to the Claims Against MGM

Even if the instruction on comparative negligence was given in error, it was harmless as to Plaintiffs' claims against MGM. If a jury instruction was given in error, that error is harmless if a different result

would not have been reached at trial free of that instruction. See *Supera v. Hindley*, 93 Nev. 471, 472, 567 P.2d 964, 964 (1977).

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